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a division of Community Medical Care, Inc

10-21-96

U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission

Region |

Atten: Chief, Nuclear Materials Safety Branch
475 Allendale road

King of Prussia, Pennsylvania 19406

RE: License number 07-30275-01

REPLY TO ANOTICE OF VIOLATION

Dear Gentlemen:

Please accept this letter as our written response to your notice of violation
dated 10-1-96 (docket# 030-34064)

Violation A. 10 CFR 35.13 (e): 1) the reason for violation- an o ersight
during the initial application process. 2) the corrective steps that have been
taken and the results achieved- we have developed a new floor plan and
applied for an amendment to our license to reflect all areas where Isotopes
are used. 3) the corrective steps that will be taken to avoid further
violations- none necessary. 4) the date when full compliance will be
achieved- when we receive the amendment reflecting the new floor pian

Violation B. 10 CFR 35.51 (a) (3): 1) the reason for violation- an oversight
during the initial application process. 2) the corrective steps that have been
taken and the .esults achieved- we have sent out our survey meter to a NRC
licensed facility to calibrate the unit with a dedicated check source which
will be purchased and placed on the meter itself. | have enclosed a copy of

the supporting documentation for your review. 3) the corrective steps that
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will be taken to avoid further violations- none necessary. 4) the date when
full compliance will be achieved- no later than 11-1-96.

Please do not hesitate to contact me at 302-892-6200 if you have any
questions.

Thank you for your time and consideration.

Warmest regards,

Ft L

Frank DiGregorio
Radiation Safety Officer
Community Medical Care, Inc.



CERTIFICATE OF CALIBRATION

Radiation Management Consultants certifies that the instrument listed below was calibrated and
inspected before shipment and has met the manufacturer's published specifications. RMC
certifies that our calibration measurements are traceable to the National [*'reau of Standards
Applicable corrections are made to correct to 22°C and 760 mmHg () 2 S E K

RAMC SERVICE NO <134
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INSTRUMENT READING
CALIBRATION POINT Before Adjustment After Calibration
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Calibration
Performed by __

| certify that the above information is correct

Authorized Agent _ C.3.7n% Doa o
Title g Kse ____ Date

(RMC Is not responsible for damage incurred during shipment or use of this instrument)
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